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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
TAMPA DIVISION
GUDRUN LISTE,pro se,
Plaintiff,
V. Case No: 8:13v-3001-T-30AEP

CEDAR FINANCIAL, KEN JORDAN,
DON UNDERWOOD and AMIR EREZ,

Defendants.

ORDER
THIS CAUSE comes beferthe Court upon the Defendant Cedar Financial, LLC’s

Motion to Dismissand Incorporated Memorandum of La®kt. #13) and Plaintiff's
Response in Opposition te Motion (Dkt. #19). Upon review and consideratidns the
Court’s conclusion that the Motion should be granted.
Background

On November 26, 2013, Gudrun Liste filed this complait seagainst Cedar
Financial, LLC (“Cedar”) alleging violations of the Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA”),
15 U.S.C8 1681 et. seq the Fair Debt Collections Practices Act (“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C.
8 1692, et. seq. Florida Consumer Collection Practices Act (“FCCPA”), Fla. Stat. §
559.72et. seqg.and intentional infliction of emotional distre6HED”). Liste alleges that
Cedar sent her two collections notices for two separate debts on behalf of a company called

TCM Germanyon February 23, 2011. Liste disputes the debt and claims this was the first
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notice she received regarding these debts. After receiving the notices, she had her son
immediately call Cedar to dispute itsalidity. Cedar's representative, Ken Jordan,
insisted that she owed the debt and that if she did not pay it, the debt would be reported to
the credit repomg agencies. She wrote a letter further disputing the debt on March 7,
2011, which she sent certified mail return receipt requested, and via e-mail to Ken Jordan.
In or around November 2011, Liste apglilor and was declined credit through her
financial institution. She pulled her credit report on January 8, 2012, and discovered that
Cedar had in fact reportede debt to the credit reporting agencies. The amounts listed in
the report were much higher than the original amount demanded. Liste’s last alleged
contact with Cedar was on February 14, 2012, when she received maibiogessage
regarding the debit.
Discussion
I.  Standard for Motion to Dismiss

To warrant dismissal of a complaint under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure, it must be “clear that no relief could be granted under any set of facts that
could be proved consistent with the allegation&lackston v. State of Alaban0 F.3d
117, 120 (11th Cir. 1994)(quotirtdishon v. King & Spaldingd67 U.S. 69, 73 (1984)).
“When considering a motion to dismiss, all facts set forth in the plaintiff's complaint are to
be accepted as true and the court limits its consideration tplébdings and exhibits
attached theretoGrossman v. Nationsbankl.A., 225 F.3d 1228, 1231 (11th Cir. 2000)

(internal citations and quotations omitted). “A complaint may not be dismissed pursuant to



Rule 12(b)(6) unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in
support of his claim which would entitle him to relieli:

“Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a)(2) requires only ‘a short and plain statement
of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief,” in orolégive the defendant
fair notice of what the ... claim is and the grounds upon which it reBtsll”Atl. Corp. v.
Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 127 S.Ct. 1955, 1964, 167 L.Ed.2d 929 (2007) (quoting
Fed.R.Civ.P. 8Conley v. Gibsorm355 U.S. 41, 47 (1957)). Further, exhibits are part of a
pleading “for all purposes.” Fed.R.Civ.P. 1(®ee SolisRamirez v. U.S. Dep't of Justjce
758 F.2d 1426, 1430 (11th Cir. 1985) (per curiam) (“Under Rule 10(c) Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure, such attachments are considered part of the pleadings for all purposes,
including a Rule 12(b)(6) motion.”).

Although the Court may hold@o selitigant to “a less stringent standard,” e
selitigant may not rely on conclusory allegations or legal conclusions in the place of factual
allegations to overcome a motion to dismisaylor v. Books A Million, In¢296 F.3d 376,

378 (5th Cir. 2002)Conclusory allegations will not survive a motion to dismiss if not
supported by facts constituting a legitimate claim for reldinicipal Utilities Bd. of
Albertville v. Alabama Power Ca34 F.2d 1493, 1501 (11th Cir. 1991).

II.  Cedar’s Motion to Dismiss

Cedar moves to dismiss the complaint on the basis that the compianairily
consists ofconclusory allegationand the factual allegations fail to state a claim against
Cedar. Furtherit argues that Liste’s FDCPA and FCCPA claims begred ly the

applicable statute of limitationshe failed to allege that she satisfied tumditions



precedento a private right of action under the FCRA, and she has not pled sufficient facts
to support a cause of action for IIED.

[ll.  Liste’s Complaint

For all of the counts in the complajritiste relies on the general allegations in
paragraphs-B9 to support causes of actions under the various statutory provisidres.
format of the complaint constitutes a shotgun pleading. “The typical shotgun complaint
contains several counts, each one incorporating by reference the allegations of its
predecessors, leading to a situation where most of the counts (i.e., all but the first) contain
irrelevant factual allegations and legal conclusions. Consequently, in ruling on the
sufficiency of a claim, the trial court must sift out the irrelevancies, a task that can be quite
onerous.”Strategic Income Fund, L.L.C. v. Spear, Leeds & Kellogg €805 F.3d 1293,
1295 (11th Cir. 2002).

See also Anderson v. Dist. Bd. of Trustees of Cent. Fl. Comm. TGoH.3d 84,
366 (11th Cir1996) (“[Plaintiff's] complaint is a perfect example of ‘shotgun’ pleading in
that it is virtually impossible to know which allegations of fact are intended to support
which claim(s) for relief.”) (internal citation omittedyelletier v Zweife] 921 F.2d 1465,
(11th Cir.1991) (describing “quintessential shotgun pleadings” complete with “rambling
recitations” and “factual allegations that could not possibly be material’ that force the
“district court [to] sift through the facts presented and decide for [itself] which were
material to the particular cause of action assertede fact that the complaint is a

shotgun pleading isa sufficient bass to require Liste to file a more definite statement.



Nonetheless, the Court will address tb®ues raised in the Motion to Dismiss as to each
count of Liste’s complaint below.
a. Count 1- Violations of the FCRA

Plaintiff alleges tha€Cedar violated5 U.S.C881681b, 1681c, 16811,681s2 and
1681gof the FCRA. The factsstatedin the generaallegationsonly support a cause of
action unde81681s-2 The provisions of 81681s+2quire the furnisher of information
to consumer reporting agencies to provide accurate informatmhprohibits a person
from furnishing any information if the pers&mows,has reasonable cause to believe, or
has been notified by the consumer ttiat information is inaccurate. It also requires that
the furnisher notify the reporting agency of the consumer’s dispute when reporting the debt

Cedarargues thal.iste fails to state a cause of action under § 163(kg because
no private right of action is available under that subsec8esPelcher v. City of Miami
944 F. Supp. 2d 1254 (S.D. Fla. 2013) (holding that the duties imposed by the provision of
the FCRArequring furnishers of information to report information accurately to credit
reporting agencies and to update and correct the information reported are only enforceable
by a government agency or official; no private right of action is available to an aggrieved
party.)

Further, the Defendant cannot state a cause of action §ritE81s2(b) because
she did not file a dispute with the credit reporting agetaty(Plaintiff failed to state a
cause of action for violation under 8 16&84(%) absent allegations that notice was given to
the creditor from the consumer reporting agency.) Therefore, the Court must dismiss this

count without prejudice. Liste may amend the count to state a cause of action under §



1681s-2(b}o allegesufficient facts tahowthat she filed a dispute with the credit reporting
agency and that Cedar was notified of the dispute and failed to properly investigate the
claim.
b. Count 2- Violation of the FDCPA

Plaintiff alleges violations of 15 U.S.@8 1692c, dg, f and g which govern
communicatiorwith third partiesregardingthe debt, communication after dispute of the
debt, telephone calls without meaningful disclosures of the caller's identity, false
representation of the amount and legal status of the dabhs abotibeingan attorng,
threatsto take actions that cannot legally be taken, and disclélsaréhe communication
is from a debt collector.

Cedar argues that Liste’s claim is barred by the one year statute of limittioas
the latest violation asserted by Liste is the phone message on February 14 A2012.
action to enforcdiability under this subchapter must do so within one year from the date
on which the violation occurd5 U.S.C.A. § 1692k(d)See also Mammen v. Bronson &
Migliaccio, LLP, 715 F. Supp. 2d 1210 (M.D. Fla. 2009) (One year statute of limitations
period began to run on consumer debtor's FDCPA claim alleging that debt collector
contacted him after receiving “cease communications” letter, upon occurrence of
collector's alleged violation.)

The Court may dismiss a claim on statute of limitations grounds when it appears on
the face of the complaint that the claim is time barred and “only if it appears beyond a
doubt that [a plaintiff] can prove no set of facts that toll the stat&ec'y ¢ Labor v.

Labbe 319 Fed. Appx. 761, 764 (11th Cir.GB). Sinceit is clear on the faeof the



complaint that the latestateto which Liste refersregarding Cdar’s violationsis more
than one year from when she filed the complaintGbrt will dismiss this count without
prejudice and with leave to amend the allegations to more specifically state any facts that
occurwithin the limitations period or that would support an argumentditing of the
limitations period.

c. Count 3- Violations of the FCCPA

Plaintiff also alleges violations under the FCCRAste specifically points to
subsections (3 (4), (5), (6), (7), (9) and (12). Theseibsections prohibthe following:
informing the debtor whoisputes a consumer debt that he or she will disclose to another
information regarding the debtorcseditworthiness withat also informirg the debtor that
he or she will report the dispute as well, distigsnformation the furnisher knows is false,
disclosinginformation concerning the existenaka debt known to be reasonably disputed
without disclosure of the dispute, willfully communicating with the debtor or any family
member with such frequency as to harass the debtor or his family, and orally
communicating with a debtor in a way that givls false impression that the person is
associated with an attorney.

A cause of action under the FCCPA may be commenced within two years after the
date of the alleged violation. Fla. Stgt559.77(4). The only facts that fall within the
limitations peiod is the February 14, 201€lephone messadaste alleges that there were
repeated phone calls prior to the message being left. The telephone rnsessagiathe
caller was Don Underwood with Cedar, calling regarding a “matter that we have here.” H

left a phonenumber to return the call and a reference number. These allegations are



insufficient to sustain a claim under the aforementioned provisions of the FCQIRA.
reporting dates of the debts on the credit report are unclear in the pleaditigsrafate,
Liste has not clearly established that they are within the limitations period. The prior calls
included in Plaintiff’s general allegations occurred more than two years ago, and therefore
cannot serve as a basis for the violations of the FCCPA unless Liste can point to any factual
allegations to argue that the Court should toll the limitatemgd. The Gurt will dismiss
this count without prejudice and with leave to amend the allegations to more specifically
state any facts that occur within the limitations period or that would support an argument
for tolling of the limitations period.

d. Count 4- Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress (IIED)

Plaintiff attempts to state a claim fdED based on the phone calls and the false
reporting of the debtGenerally,Florida recognizes an independent cause of action for
IIED. See Metropolitan Life Ins. Co. v. McCarset67 So. 2d 277, 278 (Fla. 1985). In
order to state a cause of action for IIED, the plaintiff must demonstrate that: 1) the
defendantacted recklessly or intentionally; 2) the defendant's conduct was extreme and
outrageous; 3) the defendant's conduct caused the plaintiff's emotional distress; and 4)
plaintiff's emotional distress was sevelehnson v. Thigpe88 So. 2d 410, 412 (Flast
DCA 2001). Florida courts have defined “outrageous” to mean “conduct ... SO outrageous
in character, and so extreme in degree, as to go beyond all possible bounds of decency, and
to be regarded as atrocious and utterly intolerable in a civilized conyiudit at 412

413.



Whether the defendantt®nduct is outrageous and utterly intolerable in a civilized
communityis a matter of law for the coutd. Florida federal courts have held that repeated
verbal abuse and physical contact are required to satisfy the extreme and outrageous
elementOppenheim v. I.C. Sys., In695 F. Supp. 2d 1303, 1310 (M.D. Fla. 20af'd,

627 F.3d 833 (11th Cir. 2010) (finding as a matter of law that defendant’s conduct of calling
3540 times over a period of three months was not sufficiently outrageous) amg.
Harrison, 467 So2d 1114, 111415 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) In cases where Floridstate
courts have permitted a plaintiff to move forward with an IIED claim, they often involve
threats of death, rape, or severe bodily harm to the plaintiff or family menf®ees.
Johnson 788 So. 2d at 413lims v. Harrison 768 So. 2d 1198 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000)
(finding sufficient outrageousness to state an IIED claim where the allegations involved
death threats and threats to rape the plaintiff's children and other family relatives).
Therefore, the Court concludes tha Raintiff fails to state a cause of action for |IEEDd
dismisses this claim without prejudice and with leave to amend.

Conclusion

The Court concludes that the complaint should be dismissed without prejudice
Liste may file an amended complaint and assefticient factsto allege each causs
action as directed in this Order.

It is therefore ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that:

1. Defendant's Cedar Financial, LLC’s Motion to Dismiss and Incorporated

Memorandum of Law (Dkt. #13) is GRANTED.

2. The complaint is dismissed without prejudice.



3. Gudrun Liste may file an amended complaint that confdorthis Order
within fourteen (14) days of the date of this Order.

4. Plaintiff's failure totimely file an amended complaint, should he choose to
doso, shall result in th€lerk being directed to close this case without further
notice.

DONE andORDERED in Tampa, Florida, this 19ttlay ofMarch, 2014.

Jm@ J/JW%( 0

J-\'\IE’S S.MOODY, JR.
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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Counsel/Parties of Record
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